SC05-1333

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM THOMAS ZEIGLER, JR.,

- against -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA THE HON. REGINALD WHITEHEAD, PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Dennis H. Tracey, III, Esq. Laurence Robin-Hunter, Esq. HOGAN & HARTSON, LLP 875 Third Avenue New York, NY 10022 (212) 918-3000 John Houston Pope, Esq. (Fla. Bar No. 968595) EPSTEIN BECKER & GREEN P.C. 250 Park Avenue New York, NY 10177 (212) 351-4500

Attorneys for Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the court below err in denying the relief of a new trial to appellant based on the record before it?
- 2. Did the court below err in limiting the presentation of evidence by appellant in support of his claim for a new trial?
- 3. Did the court below err in denying appellant the opportunity to conduct additional testing of the evidence in the case to resolve the uncertainties that the court identified as influencing its decision to deny relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal challenges the trial judge's denial of Zeigler's motion to vacate convictions pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851. In August 2001 Zeigler obtained permission from the Circuit Court (Hon. Donald Grincewicz) to perform testing on various pieces of evidence from his trial using DNA technologies. In 2003 the test results were authorized *nunc pro tunc* by the Circuit Court (Hon. Reginald Whitehead) under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853. In an evidentiary hearing held on December 20 and 21, 2004, Zeigler presented the test results, together with the expert testimony of a forensic criminologist. In an Order dated April 19, 2005, Judge Whitehead denied relief.

Zeigler is an inmate under a sentence of death who has languished for nearly thirty years on death row while his protests concerning his innocence have gone unheeded. On Christmas Eve 1975 Zeigler's wife (Eunice Zeigler) and his in-laws (Perry and Virginia Edwards) were brutally murdered in the W.T. Zeigler Furniture Store in Winter Grove, Horida. A fourth person (Charlie Mays) also died in the store that night.

The pain from the loss of his wife had not begun to subside when prosecutors incredibly indicted Zeigler for four first-degree murders. The case tried in June, 1976, in Jacksonville, Florida, after a change of venue necessitated by the rampant pretrial publicity. The jury returned guilty verdicts on July 3, 1976, two for first-degree murder (for the deaths of Eunice Zeigler and Charlie Mays) and two for second-degree murder (for the deaths of Perry and Virginia Edwards). The jury subsequently returned life recommendations on the capital offenses. The trial judge overrode the jury's recommendation and sentenced Zeigler to death on July 16, 1976. Five years later, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentence. *Zeigler v. State*, 402 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1981) ("*Zeigler I*").

Zeigler's first motion for post-conviction relief failed in the circuit court. This Court affirmed on all ground but one, concerning bias of the original trial judge, which was remanded for an evidentiary hearing. *Zeigler v. State*, 452 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1984) ("*Zeigler II*"). Following the hearing, the circuit court denied relief and this Court affirmed. *Zeigler v. State*, 473 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1985) ("*Zeigler III*").

Zeigler's second post-conviction motion resulted in an order by the trial court for evidentiary hearing on a sentencing issue, which the State successfully appealed. *State v. Zeigler*, 494 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1986) ("*Zeigler IV*"). This Court's view on that sentencing issue, however, was subsequently overturned by the United States Supreme Court in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987). Zeigler accordingly petitioned for a writ of habeas corpus, which this Court granted and remanded the case for a new sentencing determination in which the sentencing court would use the jury's original recommendation. *Zeigler v. Dugger*, 524 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1988) ("*Zeigler V*"). Following a resentencing proceeding in August 1989, Zeigler was again sentenced to death, contrary to the jury's original recommendation of life, and this Court affirmed. *Zeigler v. State*, 580 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1991) ("*Zeigler VI*").

Zeigler's third post-conviction motion, which had been originally filed in September 1988 while the new sentencing proceedings were pending and focused solely on guilt-innocence issues, came up for determination in 1992. An evidentiary hearing was held on one claim, which concerned inmate-trustee testimony that sheriff's deputies had planted an important piece of evidence against Zeigler. The circuit court denied relief after hearing and this Court affirmed. Zeigler v. State, 632 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1993) ("Zeigler VII").

Zeigler's fourth post-conviction motion, which focused solely on issues arising from the new æntencing proceeding in 1989, was heard in 1994, together with Zeigler's original request to engage in DNA testing of the evidence in his case. The circuit court denied relief and this Court affirmed. *Zeigler v. State*, 654 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 1995) ("*Zeigler VIII*").

Shortly thereafter, Zeigler commenced federal habeas proceedings in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. Five years later, in June 2000, the federal district judge denied relief on all claims. He also refused to grant a certificate of appealability ("COA") that would permit an appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Zeigler applied directly to the federal appellate court for a COA in November 2000.

Concerned that federal proceedings soon might be at an end and he would be facing consideration of clemency by the Governor, Zeigler filed a request in the circuit court in January, 2001, to obtain access to the evidence in his case for DNA testing.² Over the virulent opposition of the State Attorney's Office, the

The Eleventh Circuit issued a COA for eleven issues in November 2001. The appeal ultimately was unsuccessful. *See Zeigler v. Crosby*, 345 F.3d 1300 (11th Cir. 2003), *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 842 (2004).

The sensibilities of the State of Florida had been shaken only a few months earlier when DNA tests exonerated that Frank Lee Smith, a death row inmate who died of natural causes before the test results were reported. Governor Bush thereafter publicly announced his interest in obtaining the results of any DNA tests that might be relevant to clemency applications. The Governor opened formal clemency proceedings into Zeigler's case on his own initiative, while federal court

circuit court granted Zeigler's application. The State thereafter turned about in position and insisted that it receive an equal opportunity to engage in testing, which the final order authorizing testing granted to it.

Initial test results were orally reported back in early 2002. Zeigler requested additional sampling in response to that oral report. A written report of the results issued on June 20, 2002.

On January 15, 2003, Zeigler filed a motion to vacate his convictions based on newly discovered evidence. (R 314-75.) The original motion cited the DNA test results and several other pieces of evidence that had come to light after the original trial. The additional evidence raised in the motion included:

- (1) A detailed report prepared by Oakland Police Chief Robert Thompson, not disclosed to the defense prior to or at trial, in which Thompson describes Zeigler's wounds as "not bleeding" and covered in dried blood. (R 329-42.) This contradicts Thompson's trial testimony and corroborates Zeigler's testimony about events.
- (2) A report of an examination of the pants of Edward Williams for traces of gunpowder and/or metal residues that would have been present if Williams were testifying truthfully that he took a recently

proceedings were still in progress. In connection with the Governor's initiative, Zeigler's counsel here received an appointment as clemency counsel on or about March 7, 2003. (R 258, 5924-25.)

5

fired gun from Zeigler's hands and placed it in his pants pockets.

(R 344.) The report finds no such traces, which objectively impeaches Williams' testimony.

- (3) The prospective testimony of Jim Jellison, an eyewitness to events outside the Zeigler Furniture Store on December 24, 1975, as recorded on tape, in a conversation with an investigator for the prosecution, Jack Bachman. (R 346-74.) Mr. Jellison's description of events contradicts the State's theory and Mr. Bachman's side of the conversation reveals a blatant attempt to influence Jellison's testimony.
- (4) The prospective testimony of Linda Roach and Kenneth Roach, eyewitnesses to events outside the Zeigler Furniture Store on December 24, 1975, which contradicts the State's theory of events. (R 351-59.)
- (5) The testimony of Johnny Beverly, an inmate-trusty who was involved in the search for a bullet in a citrus grove that was introduced as evidence to corroborate the testimony of Felton Thomas. (R 361-68.) Mr. Beverly witnessed the planting of the bullet by a Sheriff's deputy. Although the late Judge Gary Formet refused to grant relief on the basis of Beverly's testimony, it is for a reasonable jury to draw

its own conclusions about Beverly's credibility, as explained *infra* Point I of Zeigler's argument. This testimony, therefore, is part of the "total picture" that the Court must evaluate.

(6) Three documents that evidence an undisclosed close, personal relationship between two trial witnesses, Edward Williams and Mary Stewart. Although it was known by the defense at trial that Williams and Stewart were friends, it turns out they were, in fact, ex-spouses who had engaged in a curious real estate transaction shortly before the murders. The documents are: (a) a warranty deed, dated June 1, 1973, evidencing the purchase of property by "Edward Williams and Mary Ellen Williams, his wife" (R 370); (b) a quitclaim deed, dated October 22, 1975, evidencing the transfer of ownership of the interest in the same property of "Edward Williams, a single man," to "Mary Ellen Stewart" (R 372); and (c) a mortgage deed, dated August 24, 1982, recording a mortgage taken on the same property by "Mary Ellen Stewart a/k/a Mary Ellen Williams and William Stewart, her husband" (R 374).

Zeigler also filed motions to obtain funding for an expert (R 376) and to have the testing authorized pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853 *nunc pro tunc* (R 379-90).

The circuit court heard arguments on the motions and preliminarily indicated, in a unsigned order dated August 11, 2003, that it would hold an evidentiary hearing on Zeigler's motion. The State immediately moved to limit the presentation of evidence at the hearing "to subjects directly related to the DNA test results," which it argued excluded all other post-trial evidence listed in Zeigler's motion. (R 5927-32.) After additional briefing and argument, on December 31, 2003, the circuit court issued orders granting the State's motion (R 5942-43) and Zeigler's motions to fund an expert (R 5946) and to authorize the testing pursuant to Rule 3.853 (R 5947).

Following a period of discovery, the evidentiary hearing was held on December 20 and 21, 2004. Three witnesses testified. Sean Weiss of Labcorp presented the DNA test results. Stuart James, a forensic criminologist, placed the results in context amidst the crime scene. H. Vernon Davids, one of Zeigler's trial counsel, testified concerning an aspect of the trial theatrics by the State Attorney at the original trial.

The circuit court issued its Order Denying "Motion To Vacate Convictions Based Upon Newly Discovered Evidence" After Evidentiary Hearing on April 19, 2005. (R 5972-87.) Zeigler timely filed a motion for rehearing (R 6082-6108), with a request to engage in additional testing (R 6109-17). On June 8, 2005, the circuit court summarily denied the motion for rehearing (R 6118-

19) and, although it did not mention the request for additional testing in its order, it appears that the denial embraced it as well. Zeigler thereafter timely noticed this appeal. (R 6122-25.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On direct appeal from the original trial in this case, this Court set forth its understanding of the facts upon which it based its decision to affirm the convictions:

On Christmas Eve, December 24, 1975, Eunice Zeigler, wife of defendant (hereinafter referred to as wife), and Perry and Virginia Edwards, parents-in-law of Defendant (hereinafter referred to as Perry and Virginia), were shot to death in the W.T. Zeigler Furniture Store in Winter Garden, Florida. In addition, Charles Mays, Jr., (hereinafter referred to as Mays), was beaten and shot to death at the same location.

Times of death were all estimated by the medical examiner as within one hour of 8:00 P.M. The defendant was also shot through the abdomen.

The state's theory of the case may be summarized as follows:

Edward Williams had known defendant and his family for a number of years. Williams testified that in June 1975 defendant inquired of him about obtaining a "hot gun." Williams then went to Frank Smith's home and arranged for Smith to purchase two RG revolvers. The revolvers were delivered to defendant. Also, during the latter part of 1975 defendant purchased a large amount of insurance on the life of his wife. Thus was shown the means and the motive.

Mays and his wife came to defendant's furniture store during the morning of December 24 and Mays agreed to meet defendant around 7:30 P.M. The store was closed around 6:25 P.M.

Mays left his home around 6:30 P.M. He went to an Oakland beer joint and saw a friend, Felton Thomas, who accompanied Mays to the Zeigler Furniture Store.

The theory of the state's case is that defendant had two appointments on Christmas Eve, one with Mays and one with Edward Williams. Prior to these appointments he took his wife to the store and in some manner arranged for his parents-in-law to go there. He killed his wife, Eunice, quickly, and for her, unexpectedly, since she was found with her hand in a coat pocket, shot from behind.

Because of the location of her body, Virginia was probably trying to hide among the furniture. Perry probably surprised defendant with his strength and stamina as they struggled for some time. After defendant subdued Perry and rendered him harmless, defendant shot him. Considering the fact that a bullet penetrated Virginia's hand, the state said it was likely she was huddled in a protective position when she was executed.

Defendant then left the store, returning to meet with Mays who had arrived there at about 7:30. He was probably surprised to see the presence of another man, Felton Thomas, with Mays. He took Thomas and Mays to an orange grove to try the guns. The state says that the purpose of the trip was to get the two to handle and fire the weapons in the bag. From the grove he returned to the store, but was unsuccessful in getting Mays or Thomas to provide evidence of a break-in. He did, however, get Thomas to cut off the lights in the store. The three returned to defendant's home. Defendant got out, went to the garage, came back and tossed a box of some kind to Mays and told him to reload the gun. They returned to the store. Defendant could not persuade

Thomas to enter the store, so Thomas lived. When Thomas disappeared, the defendant returned to his home and picked up Edward Williams. Defendant had killed Mays.

Defendant was successful in getting Williams partially inside the back hallway. Defendant put a gun to Williams' chest and pulled the trigger three times, but the gun did not fire. Williams said, "For God's sake, Tommy, don't kill me," and ran outside, refusing to return to the store. The state says that the empty gun was as much a surprise to defendant as it was to Williams. The state says in all probability defendant thought he was holding the gun that Mays had shot in the orange grove and which defendant told Mays to reload.

When he was unable to get Williams into the store, the defendant became desperate and conceived the idea that he would appear uninvolved if he happened to be one of the victims. Accordingly, he shot himself and then called Judge Vandeventer's residence where he knew the police officers would be.

The defendant denies that he had any contact with Smith or purchased any guns from him. He says that the increase in the amount of the insurance policy was pursuant to advice on an estate plan. Defendant says that his wife, Perry, and Virginia were killed during the course of a robbery; that Mays was involved in the robbery but was killed by his confederates; that he was shot by the burglars and left to die. The jury obviously did not believe the testimony of the defendant. To have believed his story, the jury would necessarily have had to have found no significance in the other substantial evidence.

. . . .

The defendant was arrested in his hospital room on December 29, 1975, a preliminary hearing was held January 16, 1976, and the grand jury returned indictments on March 26, 1976. One indictment charged defendant with three counts of first degree murder for the shooting deaths of Eunice Zeigler, Perry Edwards and Virginia Edwards. Another indictment charged defendant with one count of first degree murder for the beating death of Charles Mays, Jr.

. . . .

Defendant testified that he was attacked by unknown assailants. He related how he fought with his attackers, how he fought with his attackers, how he was in and out of consciousness and how he suffered a gunshot wound and heard the unknown voice directing that Charles Mays or someone be killed. The jury rejected this defense and the evidence, as previously discussed, was ample to sustain the verdict of the jury.

By its verdict, the jury found proof beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant had committed four murders within the course of two hours. He killed Eunice quickly and for her, unexpectedly. She was shot from behind. With Eunice dead, defendant then shot his in-laws. Perry struggled with the defendant. Defendant subdued Perry, rendered him harmless then went in search of Virginia, found her and shot her in the head. The evidence shows that these people were killed prior to 7:30 P.M.

By 9:00 P.M. he had murdered Mays in furtherance of a crafty design to focus attention on others as the murderers. Defendant could not persuade Thomas to enter the store so Thomas survived. He got Williams partially inside the back hallway, turned on him and tried to shoot him in the chest. The gun failed to fire, so Williams survived.

By this time, defendant was very desperate. He had four bodies in the store, and little, if anything, to support the appearance of a surprise robbery and massive shootout. He would not appear to be involved if he happened to be one of the victims. Accordingly, he shot himself and called the police for help.

Zeigler I, 402 So. 2d at 367-68, 374-75.

For purposes of these proceedings, however, the facts take on a greater complexity. The various conclusions drawn from the evidence depend on subsidiary inferences developed in the course of the investigation, which shaped and defined the trial testimony and tactics. The jury's decision to convict Zeigler can be traced directly back to certain aspects of the evidence from which the inferences tilt against him. The DNA test results (and other new evidence) raised in this proceedings below directly challenge those aspects of the evidence and the inferences they otherwise might permit.

The lead investigator – Detective Don Frye – and the State's blood spatter expert at trial, Herbert MacDonell, developed hypotheses about how the murders occurred. Their theories were literally painted in blood; the blood spatter and bloodstain at the crime scene provided their guide. Their reports, which did not go into evidence at trial, deserve brief mention because those pretrial statements defined and limited the ground that these two witnesses would cover at trial. They also outlined the State's theory of events and explain some of the prosecution's actions at trial.

The Frye and MacDonell Reports

Frye focused instantly on Zeigler as the perpetrator (TT 1768) and developed a case to convict him, rather than to solve the murders. Frye felt that "blood droplets" and "blood smears on the terrazzo floor" indicated that a "struggle occurred between [Perry] Edwards and defendant Zeigler." (R 3366.) Frye looked at what he described as a "very heavy concentration of blood on and underneath the left arm of [Mr. Zeigler's] shirt." and hypothesized that "[t]his would be consistent with defendant Zeigler holding Mr. Edwards in a headlock and beating him on the top of his head." (R 3365.) He speculated that the "crank utilized to unroll the linoleum" must have been the tool used to beat both Edwards, and later Mays. (R 3366.) Frye additionally noted that "in further observation of the bloodstains, it could be determined that Mr. Mays had been beaten after the struggle with Mr. Perry Edwards had been concluded. Blood splatters from Mays were observed on the top of the suspected blood smears made by Mr. Edwards and Zeigler's struggle." (R 3366.) Frye brought Professor MacDonell into the case; MacDonell soon came to second Frye's theories.

MacDonell conducted an examination of the crime scene on January 7, 1976. He concluded that Eunice Zeigler was probably killed first and that she "was probably unaware she was about to be shot as her left hand remained inside her coat pocket." (MacDonell report at 2nd unnumbered page).

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