IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM THOMAS ZEIGLER,

Case No. SC05-1333

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

Patterns made by smeared blood were present on Mays' sweatshirt and on top of those patterns were stains from force consistent with a beating. The blood patterns had dried for fifteen to thirty minutes before the spatter landed on top of them. Testimony at the evidentiary hearing indicated that while the bloodstains could have been transferred from Mays' sweatshirt to Defendant's shirt, merely crawling over the shirt, as Defendant claims he did, would not be sufficient; instead, Defendant would have to lie across Mays' torso in order to achieve those particular stains.

Finally, the fact that only Mays' blood was found on the left arm of Defendant's t-shirt does not exonerate Defendant or even tend to exonerate Defendant. As Weiss stated at the evidentiary hearing, it was possible to miss blood on the shirt, due to deterioration and improper storage. It was also possible to have a mixed stain, from multiple contributors, in the same area. Thus, the presence of Mays' blood, and the absence of Perry's, on Defendant's t-shirt, does not conclusively show that Defendant did not hold Perry in a headlock and beat him.

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that Defendant has not shown that DNA testing results would exonerate him or mitigate his sentence. *See Robinson*, 865 So. 2d at 1265-65.

(R5984-86).

While Zeigler undoubtedly disagrees with the trial court's findings of fact, those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed. The trial court should be affirmed in all respects.<sup>18</sup>

While the trial court's ruling is correct, the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing is, in actuality, little different from the facts presented at trial (and the facts assumed by this Court in 1995). See, Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d at 1164. The true facts are that it has been known since the time of the crimes that type A blood was present on Mays' pants. (TT2302). Likewise, it has been known, since the time of trial, that type A blood was present on Zeigler's shirt. (TT1456-58, 1460). At the time of trial, the jury was well aware of the limitations of ABO blood group typing, which, of course, cannot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Zeigler seems to believe that, since DNA testing has been conducted, the State is obligated to explain the location of each drop of blood. That is not the law, and the bizarre facts of this case demonstrate that. Zeigler is the only person who knows the fine details of what happened on Christmas Eve of 1975. Notably, his theory about those events has changed several times in response to the DNA results, a fact that calls his credibility into even greater question.

determine whether a specific individual was the source of the blood. (TT1411). The problem for Zeigler is that, unlike his previous theory, DNA typing has proven that the blood present on his shirt came from one of his victims - - in an attempt to deflect this damaging result, Zeigler now claims that the State argued that he had Perry Edwards in a "headlock" while beating him. The record does not support that claim. (R2553).<sup>19</sup> And, putting aside the fundamental tenet that the arguments of counsel are not evidence, that argument would be a wholly legitimate inference from the evidence presented that no way misstated the facts or overplayed the evidence. When stripped of its histrionics, Zeigler's argument is nothing more than a desperate attempt to invent an after-the-fact explanation for why the testing he demanded showed that he was covered in the blood of one of his victims. That fact is hardly helpful to him -- it does not establish **any** probability of a different result, let alone a reasonable probability.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The State argued to the jury that Mays was the likely source of the blood on Zeigler's shirt. (R250; 2559-60). See page 18, above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> As discussed above, Zeigler's theory was that the blood on his shirt came from an unknown third party until the DNA testing showed that it came from one of his victims. At that point, Zeigler began proposing progressively more fanciful theories in an effort to explain away evidence that, to say the least, is highly inculpatory.

With respect to the blood found on Mays' clothing, the DNA testing shows nothing other than the rather unremarkable fact that blood from one murder victim is present on the clothing of another -- considering that the bodies were found in close proximity, and that the floor between the bodies was "littered with the [blood] spatter" produced by the two killings, it should come as little surprise that Edwards' blood was on Mays' clothing. Under these facts, there is no probability at all of a different result based on that evidence.<sup>21</sup> When the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State, as this Court has repeatedly held it must do, there is no basis for relief of any sort.

The Court's Order is not Based on Improper "Speculation."

On pages 51-55 of his *Initial Brief*, Zeigler argues that the trial court "engaged in prejudicial speculation" to deny relief. What Zeigler describes as "speculation" is found in the trial court's summary of the testimony of the witness James, and is an accurate description thereof -- Zeigler does not claim to the contrary. The trial court was well aware that the spatter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The presence of Mays' blood on Zeigler's shirt is **inculpatory** -- it does not help Zeigler's case at all, despite his efforts to spin it into a "favorable" result. The obvious explanation (which Zeigler pointedly ignores) is that the blood got there when he killed Mays. That view of the evidence makes sense, and Zeigler's strained theories do not.

stains on Zeigler's shirt had not been determined to be blood, nor had their source been determined. (R5982 n.10).

Zeigler also complains that the trial court found that:

Testimony given at both the trial and evidentiary hearing indicated that the stains on the back of Defendant's red shirt were not transferred from the floor, as Defendant claims, but instead were consistent with a beating wherein the instrument used in the beating caused the blood to initially spray upward, then fall back onto the shirt. Even though all the stains on the shirt were not tested, testimony was adduced that if the spatters on Defendant's shirt came from Mays, Defendant was the one who beat Mays to death. No findings were introduced which contradicted this testimony.

(R5985). What Zeigler fails to recognize is that this finding is in the context of a rejection of his own hypotheses about how the stains came to be on Zeigler's shirt. As witness James testified, and as the trial court found, "all of the spatter evidence would be explained if Defendant was the killer." (R5983). Zeigler cannot base his case on speculation and conjecture (even if he does call it a "hypothesis") and complain when the trial court rejects those theories based upon the evidence before it. The trial court did nothing improper, and was well aware of the character of the evidence under discussion -- there is no basis for relief.

### II. THE "LIMITATION ON THE EVIDENCE" CLAIM

On pages 55-65 of his *Initial Brief*, Zeigler argues that the trial court erred when it limited the presentation of

evidence to "those matters directly related to the DNA test results supporting the motion." (R5941). This claim has two components: that this Court's remand in *Hitchcock v. State*, SC03-2203 (Fla., May 3, 2005) requires the same result in this case, and that the Court must consider all of the other evidence (which is procedurally barred) in addition to the DNA evidence.

# The Trial Court Properly Refused to Consider Claims that are Procedurally Barred.

Despite the hyperbole of Zeigler's brief, the true facts are that the claims that the trial court refused to consider are procedurally barred and were properly precluded for purposes of this litigation. While Zeigler does not admit it, his pleading to the Circuit Court established, on its face, that the "non-DNA" claims were procedurally barred because they had either been presented in prior proceedings, or were raised in the DNA proceeding for the first time. With respect to the claim that was raised for the first time in this proceeding (the "real estate transaction" claim), Zeigler admitted in his successive motion that this claim had never been raised before. (R319). The "supporting" exhibits consisted of three deeds which were recorded (in Orange County, Florida) in 1973, 1975, and 1982. (R319). The newest of these deeds was recorded more than 20 years before the successive motion was filed, and the other two

were recorded before Zeigler committed these murders.<sup>22</sup> The subclaim is successive as a matter of law, and the trial court properly refused to consider it.

With respect to the other matters set out in Zeigler's brief, each of those matters had been raised and decided in previous proceedings, as Zeigler admitted. Each matter (with one exception) had been held procedurally barred by this Court on at least one occasion.<sup>23</sup> These claims are procedurally barred, and the trial court properly declined to consider them.

The Order in *Hitchcock* does not Compel Reversal.

The other component of this claim is Zeigler's claim that because this Court held in *Hitchcock v. State* SC03-2203 (Fla. May 3, 2005)(in an unpublished order) that certain claims were not procedurally barred, that he is "entitled" to the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Further, Zeigler's successive motion did not comply with *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.851(e)(2) with regard to the contents of a successive motion to vacate because, *inter alia*, the motion did not contain the required explanation for the failure to raise the claim previously.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The exception is the claim, on page 62 of the *Initial Brief*, that the toes of Williams' shoes were not scuffed from climbing a fence. This component of this claim is raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief. (R318). Florida law is settled that claims cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of relief. *Weaver v. State*, 894 So. 2d 178, 196 (Fla. 2004)(quoting *Farinas v. State*, 569 So. 2d 425, 429 (1990)); Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d 169, 180-81 (Fla. 2003).

result.<sup>24</sup> That argument ignores the fundamental differences between the two cases, overreads the holding in *Hitchcock*, and is, when stripped of its pretensions, an attempt to put a square peg in a round hole.

In his brief, Zeigler has not identified what evidence he believes should have been, but was not, considered. Because that is so, the State presumes that the "evidence" at issue is that set out on pages 62-64 of the *Initial Brief*. That discussion contains no record citation of any sort, and is set out in connection with sub-claim 2 to Zeigler's brief. The true facts are that (with two exceptions) those claims have previously been litigated and found procedurally barred for various reasons.<sup>25</sup> See, post. That is a critical difference between this case and *Hitchcock*, and is why the unpublished decision in that case has no bearing on Zeigler's case.

Despite Zeigler's efforts, the facts are that his conviction and sentence became final on March 22, 1982, when the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari. Zeigler v. Florida, 455 U.S. 1036 (1982). Zeigler's death sentences were set aside in April of 1988, based on Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), error. Zeigler v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Zeigler assumes that an unpublished order has the same precedential value as a published decision of this Court. That issue does not need to be decided in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The two exceptions have never been raised before at all.

Dugger, 524 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1988). Zeigler was again sentenced to death, and the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on November 4, 1991. Zeigler v. Florida, 502 U.S. 946 (1991). The death sentence became final on that date, but the conviction had **been** final since 1982.

With respect to the specific claims, the matter relating to Edward Williams has been rejected by this Court twice. 452 So. 2d at 539; 632 So. 2d at 51. The claim by Johnnie Beverly that a "planted" enforcement bullet by law has been found was incredible. 632 So. 2d at 51. The claim concerning Kenneth and Linda Roach has been held procedurally barred by this Court two separate times. 452 So. 2d at 539; 494 So. 2d at 959. With respect to the Jellison component, this Court has previously held that claim procedurally barred. 632 So. 2d at 50. This claim has nothing to do with *Hitchcock*, and everything to do with claims that have already been decided on procedural bar grounds by this Court. Zeigler is not entitled to preferential treatment, and is not entitled to yet another bite at the appellate apple on claims that he lost on long ago.

# A "Newly Discovered Evidence" Claim does not Trump the Procedural Bar Rules.

The second component of this claim is easily disposed of because Zeigler's claim is contrary to the settled precedent of this Court. Contrary to Zeigler's claim, Florida law is long-

settled that a claim of newly discovered evidence does not open the door to relitigation (or reconsideration) of claims that are procedurally barred. *Kight v. State*, 784 So. 2d 396, 402 (Fla. 2001); *Jones (Leo) v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512, 522 n.7 (Fla. 1998) ("We reject Jones' argument that we must consider all testimony previously heard at the 1986 and 1992 evidentiary hearings, **even if the testimony had previously been found to be barred** or not to qualify as newly discovered evidence. We consider only that evidence found to be newly discovered.") (emphasis added).<sup>26</sup> This component of Zeigler's claim is foreclosed by binding precedent, and is not a basis for relief.

#### III. THE "DENIAL OF FURTHER TESTING" CLAIM

On pages 65-68 of his *Initial Brief*, Zeigler argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion for "additional DNA testing" of "all of the spots on Zeigler's outer shirt." (R6109). This motion was filed along with Zeigler's motion for rehearing, which was denied on June 8, 2005. (R6082; 6118). No order on the motion for additional testing was entered, and nothing in the record indicates that Zeigler did anything to insist on a ruling on that motion. Notice of appeal was filed on July 1, 2005, and the trial court lost jurisdiction. (R6122).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Zeigler has ignored this plain language (which is directly contrary to his position) in favor of a citation to the dissent in *Jones* which was concerned with a different aspect of the case.

Because there is no ruling on the motion for additional testing, it appears that the filing of the notice of appeal (which was filed after the denial of the motion for rehearing) has the effect of abandoning the motion for additional testing. Rule 9.010(h)(3), *Fla. R. App. P.* Florida law is clear that:

"the filing of a notice of appeal constitutes an abandonment of a then-pending post-judgment motion which simultaneously confers sole jurisdiction over the cause in the appellate court and deprives the trial court of authority to consider the motion." 578 So. 2d at 727. The district court also explained:

There can be no question that the rule that a party abandons a post-final judgment motion by filing a notice of appeal to review that very judgment is a long and firmly established one. State ex rel. Faircloth v. District Court of Appeal, Third Dist., 187 So. 2d 890, 892 (Fla. 1966); State ex rel. Owens v. Pearson, 156 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1963); State v. Florida State Turnpike Auth., 134 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 1961); Allen v. Town of Largo, 39 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1949); In re One 1979 Chevrolet Blazer Bearing Florida Tag No. WFF-202, VIN No. CKL 189202370, 436 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

*Id.* at 727-28.

In re Forfeiture of \$104,591 in U.S. Currency, 589 So. 2d 283,

284 (Fla. 1991). This Court went on to say:

We emphasize that the rule that a party abandons a post-trial judgment motion by filing a notice of appeal is the proper rule, and we hold that the abandonment doctrine still applies in this state. In re Forfeiture of \$104,591 in U.S. Currency, 589 So. 2d at 285. Zeigler's motion for additional testing was abandoned, and is not properly before this Court.

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